#### THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-SA-02020

MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH and DVA HEALTHCARE RENAL CARE, INC.

**APPELLANTS** 

V.

BIO-MEDICAL APPLICATIONS OF MISSISSIPPI, INC. d/b/a SOUTH MISSISSIPPI KIDNEY CENTER -- D'IBERVILLE and BIO-MEDICAL APPLICATIONS OF MISSISSIPPI, INC. d/b/a SOUTH MISSISSIPPI KIDNEY CENTER -- BILOXI

**APPELLEES** 

#### APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HON. DENISE OWENS, CHANCERY JUDGE

# BRIEF OF APPELLANTS MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND DVA HEALTHCARE RENAL CARE, INC.

#### ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Mark W. Garriga, M.
Donna Brown Jacobs, M.
BUTLER, SNOW, O'MARA, STEVENS & CANNADA, PLLC

#### INTRODUCTION

A specialized healthcare facility is heavily damaged in a hurricane. The owner decides to rebuild the facility further out of harm's way and closer to major evacuation routes. The new facility, while much improved, has the same capacity as the old location and shares its 30-mile service area with the same competitors as before. The old building is repaired and put to a different use. The Department of Health concludes that the rebuilt facility meets all the necessary criteria for a Certificate of Need to be issued. The Department, in interpreting its own rules and regulations, also finds that the Need Criterion contained in the State Health Plan requiring that all competing End Stage Renal Disease facilities located in a particular service area be operating at an 80 percent utilization rate before a new facility can be built in that service area, does not apply to this application. The Department determined that this need criterion had no applicability to the current application because it applies only when a "new" or "additional" health care facility is proposed, and the facility in question will be neither—it will serve as a replacement of an already existing health care facility and the previously existing building will cease to operate as an ESRD Facility.

This describes the essential facts and events of this case. What makes this situation unusual, though, is that it not only describes DVA Healthcare Renal Care, Inc.'s loss and replacement of its Ocean Springs Dialysis facility in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina, but also Fresenius Medical Care's loss and replacement of its Bay St. Louis ESRD facility. But this is not the happy tale of the recovery of two important ESRD facilities and the restoration of the life-saving hemodialysis services they provide. Instead, it is a story of how Fresenius successfully urged the Mississippi State Department of Health to adopt an interpretation of the State Health Plan that facilitated the relocation and rebuilding of its own facility, but now argues

the Department's identical interpretation of the same provision in DVA's relocation is wrong -in a transparent effort to eliminate a competing facility.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Department of Health's interpretation that the State Health Plan's ESRD Need Criterion applies only when a facility is added to an existing service area, and not when an existing facility relocates to a new address in the same town, is plainly erroneous or so inconsistent with this provision as to be arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law.
- 2. Whether Fresenius should be barred under the principal of judicial estoppel from challenging the Department of Health's interpretation that the State Health Plan's ESRD Need Criterion does not apply when an existing facility relocates to a new address in the same town, when Fresenius took this same position in its own CON application filed shortly after the DVA application and benefitted from the Department's ruling affirming Fresenius' position.
- Was the Emergency Certificate of Need issued by the Department of Health to DVA for
   Ocean Springs Dialysis properly the subject of review by the Chancery Court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Course of Proceedings

Mississippi's State Health Officer granted DVA Healthcare Renal Care, Inc. an Emergency Certificate of Need to reestablish its Ocean Springs Dialysis facility at a different location in Ocean Springs, after its existing building was heavily damaged during Hurricane Katrina. Admin. Hrg. 6; Exs. 2, 32; R.E. 49-52. DVA applied for a regular CON for the new building within 45 days. Ex. 2; R.E. 53-177. The staff of the Mississippi State Department of Health's Division of Health Planning and Resource Development (the "Staff") recommended approval of DVA's application. Ex. 3; R.E. 252-59 ("Staff Analysis"). The Staff published its findings, including its conclusion that the State Health Plan's 80 percent need threshold to establish a new ESRD facility did not apply because DVA's old building was "taken out of service due to circumstances beyond the applicant's control" and "all facilities within the service area co-existed prior to Hurricane Katrina in 2005 . . . . " Ex. 3; R.E. 254 (Staff Analysis, p. 3) (emphasis supplied); Admin. Hrg. 8, 151. Bio-Medical Applications of Mississippi, Inc., a subsidiary of Fresenius, requested a Public Hearing During the Course of Review, claiming that its D'Iberville and Biloxi facilities had been adversely affected by the relocation of OSD. Admin. Hrg. 592; Ex. 2; R.E. 178-80 (Ltr. from A. Simpson to S. Dawkins (March 7, 2007)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Designations to the record of this proceeding are abbreviated in this brief as follow: Transcript of the administrative hearing, referred to in Department of Health regulations as a Public Hearing During Course of Review, held on January 27-29 and February 27, 2009, are designated "Admin. Hrg."; exhibits from the administrative hearing are designated "Ex."; pleadings prepared by the Clerk as part of the Record are designated with an "R"; Appellants' excerpts from the Record are "R.E."; and references to transcripts of proceedings held before the Chancery Court on September 11, 2009, and December 9, 2009, are designated as "Tr."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The CON Review Manual in effect at the time of the filing of the Emergency CON was introduced into the administrative hearing record as Exhibit 9 (eff. May 13, 2000). The Manual in effect at the time DVA filed its regular CON application for OSD was Exhibit 8. Admin. Hrg. 36-39. Excerpts of both manuals are included within Appellants' Record Excerpts. See R.E. 266-305 (Ex. 8) and R.E. 306-43 (Ex. 9).

Fresenius waited more than 18 months, then finally requested a hearing date. Ex. 2; R.E. 184 (Ltr. from A. Simpson to D. Eicher (September 24, 2008)). The administrative hearing was conducted over four days in early 2009, and the Hearing Officer received both testimony and documentary evidence. At the conclusion, the Hearing Officer found that DVA's application for a regular CON "was in substantial compliance with the State Health Plan . . . , the CON Manual . . . , and the adopted procedures and rules of the Department." Ex. 2; R.E. 193-236 (Hearing Officer's Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law, p. 2).

The Hearing Officer specifically found that the State Health Plan's 80 percent need threshold was not implicated because the criterion "is intended to prevent 'additional' ESRD facilities within 30 miles of existing facilities that already may be underutilized." Ex. 2; R.E. 210 (Hearing Officer's Findings, p. 16) (citing State Health Plan, Ch. 13, Sect. 107.01(6)). The Hearing Office further elaborated on this point by observing that DVA was not proposing an additional facility, but rather the reconstruction of one that coexisted with Fresenius' facilities before the hurricane:

DVA did not construct an *additional* facility in any service area; Ocean Springs Dialysis existed within the D'Iberville and Biloxi service areas prior to Hurricane Katrina. (T. 885-88). Therefore, DVA must obtain a CON to relocate its building, but there is no requirement that DVA satisfy the 80 percent need threshold.

#### Id., R.E. 210 (emphasis in original).

The State Health Officer issued a Final Order approving DVA's CON application for OSD on June 25, 2009. Ex. 2; R.E. 237, 239, 248-51. Fresenius appealed that order to the Chancery Court of Hinds County. R 1.

The Chancery Court reversed the State Health Officer's order. R. 188; R.E. 4-17. Specifically, the Chancery Court held that the re-opening of OSD in a building within Ocean

Springs, but 4 miles from its old location, created a new "service area," and because this was a different service area than OSD was in before, a "new ESRD facility" was established:

When DVA moved its location from 12 Marks Road, a new service area was created, even though DVA moved only 4.3 miles away from its prior location. But, when DVA was located at 12 Marks Road, a 30 mile radius certainly existed and could have been sketched out on a map. When DVA moved 4.3 miles away, naturally, the 30 miles radius shifted. DVA's new location landed in and encompassed an entirely different and distinct 30 miles radius. This Court finds that a new ESRD facility was created.

R. 194, 193; R.E. 10 (Order and Opinion of the Court, p. 7). The Court also found that the reestablishment of OSD was not authorized under the Emergency CON laws and that its continued operation is in violation of law. *Id.* at 200-201; R.E. 16-17.

Despite these findings, the Court found that DVA's application met the four General Certificate of Need Policies of the State Health Plan:

- 1. the facility did not result in the unnecessary duplication of health resources;
- 2. the facility provided a degree of cost containment;
- 3. it improved the health of Mississippi residents; and
- the facility increased the accessibility, acceptability, continuity, and quality of health services.

R. 195; R.E. 11 (Opinion and Order, p. 8); see also FY 2007 State Health Plan, Ch. 1, Sect. 102. The Chancery Court also found that DVA's application satisfied the general review criteria of the Department's CON Review Manual. R. 196-199; R.E. 12-15 (Opinion and Order, pp. 9-12); see also R.E. 298-304 (Certificate of Need Review Manual, Ch. 8, Criteria Used by State Department of Health for Evaluation of Projects). In particular, the Chancery Court found:

- 1. the new building is a "more effective alternative" to the old location (R.E. 12);
- 2. the population "has a significant need for DVA's new healthcare facility" (R.E. 13);
- 3. OSD's facility is an "enhancement to the level of care" in the service area (R.E. 13);
- 4. "the relocation had no negative effect on the provision of ESRD services in this area" (R.E. 13);
- 5. "access to and at the facility is better than DVA's old location" (R.E. 14);
- 6. "impact on existing providers has been and is minimal" (R.E. 14);
- 7. the new construction maximized cost containment because the facility is "100% accommodating" (R.E. 15); and
- 8. there was no proof in the record that there was any deficiency in the quality of care at the new facility (R.E. 15).

R. 196-199; R.E. 12-15 (Opinion and Order, pp. 9-12). Fresenius did not appeal any of these findings.

The Chancery Court's original Order did not specifically address what would happen to OSD and its patients while this matter continued in the courts; therefore, DVA and the Department filed a Motion to Clarify and/or Alter and Amend Order and Opinion. R. 202; R.E. 22-25. The movants urged the lower court to allow OSD to remain open pending appeal. Tr. 81, 86. Instead, the Chancery Court ordered OSD to stop treating patients and "close its doors" within ninety (90) days. R. 220; R.E. 20 (Order, p.3).

DVA and the Department of Health filed a timely Notice of Appeal. R. 224; R.E. 26-28. A Motion to Stay Enforcement of Judgment Pending Appeal was granted by the Supreme Court on February 22, 2010.

#### Statement of Facts

Ocean Springs Dialysis has provided life-saving hemodialysis treatments for patients suffering from End-Stage Renal Disease<sup>3</sup> for more than a decade.<sup>4</sup> OSD is one of three ESRD facilities DVA operates in Mississippi; the other two are located in Lucedale and Pascagoula. Admin. Hrg. 244. South Mississippi Kidney Center ("SMKC") D'Iberville and SMKC Biloxi are ESRD facilities operated by a subsidiary of Fresenius Medical Care, the world's largest supplier of renal dialysis services. Admin. Hrg. 588-89. Fresenius operates approximately 50 ESRD facilities in Mississippi and owns all six ESRD facilities in Harrison and Hancock Counties, the two coastal counties adjacent to Jackson County. Admin. Hrg. 589-91. Its Biloxi and D'Iberville facilities - the contestants here - are located within four miles of each other. Admin. Hrg. 807. OSD operated within the facility service areas for Fresenius' Biloxi and D'Iberville facilities both before and after its relocation. Admin. Hrg. 59, 885.

Until Hurricane Katrina made landfall on August 29, 2005, OSD was located in a two-story townhouse at 12 Marks Road in Ocean Springs. The building was heavily damaged during Hurricane Katrina and thereafter could not be used for dialysis procedures. Admin. Hrg. 244, 247-51, 258. Photographs show that the brick exterior and façade collapsed, and a tarp had to be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> End-Stage Renal Disease is a condition in which the patient suffers the loss of kidney function to the extent that remaining function is insufficient to support life. FY 2007 Mississippi State Health Plan, Ch. 13, Sect. 106. Dialysis is the process by which either an artificial kidney machine (hemodialysis) or a peritoneal membrane (peritoneal dialysis) is used to remove metabolic waste products from the bloodstream and remove fluids and salts. *Id.* Most ESRD patients who undergo hemodialysis procedures must be treated three times each week, in sessions lasting up to seven hours. Admin. Hrg. 241, 457-58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The year that OSD began operations is not clear from the record. However, the first dated Medical Director Agreement for this facility involving the present physician group in the record is dated November 1, 1996, nine years before Katrina. Ex. 2 (Medical Director Agreement). OSD was operated at the time of Hurricane Katrina by Gambro Healthcare Renal Care, Inc. Admin. Hrg. 246. DVA purchased the outstanding stock of a Gambro subsidiary, including the Ocean Springs facility, on or about October 5, 2005. Admin. Hrg. 558, 574.

placed over the roof. Ex. 29; R.E. 364, 365.<sup>5</sup> This tarp covered a large hole in the ceiling through which one could "see all the way to heaven" from the first floor. Ex. 29; R.E. 366, 371-80; Admin. Hrg. 248-51. Water came through the collapsed wall and the hole in the roof, damaging lighting fixtures and sheet rock in the dialysis treatment room. Admin. Hrg. 249; Ex. 29 (photos); R.E. 364-80. Black mold very soon began to grow on the drywall. Admin. Hrg. 251. The OSD staff put plastic bags over the dialysis machines to protect them from the elements. Ex. 29; R.E. 367; Admin. Hrg. 249. <sup>6</sup>

DVA was forced to treat OSD patients at its Lucedale and Pascagoula locations<sup>7</sup> until the Ocean Springs facility could reopen. Admin. Hrg. 258, 262-63. The majority of OSD's patients are often too ill to drive themselves to treatment and must depend on others for transportation; the travel presented a significant hardship for patients, their families, and the DVA doctors and staff. Admin. Hrg. 262, 462-72, 548.

DVA increased its operational hours for the Lucedale and Pascagoula facilities to meet the increased demand, but conditions remained overcrowded. Admin. Hrg. 263-64, 465-66. Staff members worked very long hours, up to 16 hours per day to try to meet the increased demand. Admin. Hrg. 465-66. Despite these hardships many OSD patients chose to continue their treatments with DVA. Admin. Hrg. 517. Over time, some patients transferred to Fresenius facilities in the area. Admin. Hrg. 264, 470, 519.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> These photographs were supplied to the Department of Health to show the extent of the damage to the old building. Ex. 2; R.E. 37-48 (Ltr. from K. Livingston-Wilson to R. Pittman).

Oue to the extent of the disaster the facility manager, Yvette Smith, recommended to OSD's patients that they leave the area to be treated, if possible. Admin. Hrg. 471. DVA supplied those who chose to leave with a list of available ESRD facilities in the area in which they planned to relocate. Admin. Hrg. 567. Ms. Smith also contacted Fresenius' D'Iberville unit, the unit closest to OSD, to attempt to make arrangements for treatment, but was told that they did not have any capacity. Admin. Hrg. 519-20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Lucedale is approximately 52 miles from Ocean Springs; the Pascagoula facility is approximately 20. Admin. Hrg. 262-63.

Nearly a month passed before an insurance adjuster even inspected the damage at 12 Marks Road. Ex. 18.8 OSD's medical director, Dr. Tracy Pittman, consulted with various DVA employees and decided the better course was to act quickly to relocate the facility within Ocean Springs rather than wait until insurance claims were processed. Admin. Hrg. 266-68. In October 2005, Dr. Pittman purchased a vacant lot on Ponce DeLeon Drive in Ocean Springs, approximately 4.3 miles northwest of the old facility. Admin. Hrg. 7, 269, 315; Exs. 23, 31, 32.

In August 2006, DVA filed an application for an Emergency CON to reestablish OSD on Ponce DeLeon Drive. Admin. Hrg. 17; Exs. 2, 4; R. E. 29-36, 260. DVA made clear in this filing that land for the new site had already been purchased and construction had begun. Ex. 2; R.E. 35 (Application for Emergency CON, p. 6). The State Health Officer granted the Emergency CON on October 6, 2006. Admin. Hrg. 6; Exs. 2, 3, 7; R.E. 49-52. The facility was completed after the Emergency CON was issued. Ex. 13; R.E. 182-83 (Ltr. from S. Dawkins to T. Kirkland, p. 2 (May 8, 2007)). DVA filed a regular CON application to reestablish OSD on November 20, 2006, within the 45-day regulatory deadline. Ex. 2; R.E. 53-177.

The following month, Fresenius filed its own CON application to rebuild and relocate an ESRD facility damaged by the storm. Ex. 77; R.E. 409-435. The company sought authority to relocate its Bay St. Louis facility to Diamondhead, a town more than 10 miles away. <sup>11</sup> *Id.* 

Before beginning normal operations, DVA conducted trial dialysis procedures under the supervision of the Department's Division of Licensure. Admin. Hrg. 527. The Department inspected the facility a number of times during its start-up phase, determined it had a valid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The St. Paul Travelers estimate indicates that the date of inspection was September 25, 2005. Ex. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> More than *five months* passed before the insurer finally delivered an estimate – and then only for repair of the building's "shell." Admin. Hrg. 266; Ex. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Don Eicher testified that the Department received a number of Emergency CON applications more than a year after Hurricane Katrina. Admin. Hrg. 21-22. As discussed *infra*, Fresenius' Hancock County facility was one of those.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Fresenius had previously filed an application for and had been granted an Emergency CON for the relocation of this same facility. See Exs. 10, 11; R.E. 344-54.

Emergency CON, and approved commencement of operations. Admin. Hrg. 482-87, 660-62. The federal agency that oversees Medicare and Medicaid, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), formally re-certified OSD on December 18, 2006. Admin. Hrg. 487-89; Exs. 53-54.

The new building provided the opportunity to correct inherent structural deficiencies in the old one. The Marks Road clinic was located in a two-story townhouse that was not designed to be an ESRD facility. Admin. Hrg. 351. Both Dr. Pittman and Yvette Smith, the facility manager, testified that the two-story layout made handicapped access difficult, especially for those nursing home patients who were bed-bound. Admin. Hrg. 253, 496-97; Ex. 30. The building's layout forced patients on stretchers to come in through a back door and maneuver through a storage room and around a corner. Admin. Hrg. 497. The Marks Road building had no wheelchair access near the front door, so these patients had to enter at the end of the building. Admin, Hrg. 496. Lack of covered access made entry in the rain difficult. Admin, Hrg. 497. There was insufficient room for a generator to supply emergency power. Admin. Hrg. 253. Limited office space made private conversations with patients nearly impossible. Admin. Hrg. 253, 496. The treatment floor was small and cramped and patients had to dialyze close enough to touch one another. Admin. Hrg. 498. Supply space was limited. Admin. Hrg. 498. The waiting room was very small. Admin. Hrg. 499. These limitations existed despite the fact that the prior operator spent \$111,000 to renovate the facility just four years earlier. Admin. Hrg. 346-47.

The Ponce DeLeon building represents a substantial improvement over the old Marks Road structure in terms of space, location, handicapped access, and patient comfort. Admin. Hrg. 277-80, 350-52, 495-500. It is a modern facility, designed and built to DVA's general specifications to be an ESRD clinic. Admin. Hrg. 350; Ex. 34. The larger building provides

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