#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH and DVA HEALTHCARE RENAL CARE, INC. d/b/a OCEAN SPRINGS DIALYSIS

APPELLANTS

V.

NO. 2009-SA-02020

#### BIO-MEDICAL APPLICATIONS OF MISSISSIPPI, INC. d/b/a SOUTH MISSISSIPPI KIDNEY CENTER - D'IBERVILLE and BIO-MEDICAL APPLICATIONS OF MISSISSIPPI, INC. d/b/a SOUTH MISSISSIPPI KIDNEY CENTER - BILOXI

APPELLEES

#### APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE HINDS CHANCERY COURT, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

#### **BRIEF FOR APPELLEES**

OF COUNSEL:

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

DVA was required by the State Health Plan to meet the Need Criterion applicable to the "establishment" of a dialysis facility, because it was moving all of its licensed stations from one location to another. It did not meet that requirement, but the Department granted it a CON anyway, accepting a lesser showing of need on the theory that DVA was applying for a "relocation," not an "establishment." With any luck, this will be the last time this Court has to explain to the Department that the law does not allow the Department to apply a lessened standard of need for a "relocation" in contradiction of the State Health Plan. The chancery court correctly held that the Department erred as a matter of law.

The Department also erred in granting DVA an emergency CON where no emergency existed and where the law did not provide for *moving* one's facility to a sweeter spot under the guise of "emergency." DVA's abuse of this process should not have been allowed by the Department.

Even more egregiously, the Department permitted DVA to violate the legal prohibition against making capital expenditures on building a facility without having a CON in hand. The present case offers a breathtaking example of a provider's utter disregard for the CON Law, a disregard rewarded by the Department. The chancery court held correctly that DVA violated the law.

i .

14

Finally, the chancery court did not err in disregarding DVA's misguided "administrative estoppel" argument. Even if judicial estoppel could apply to 41-7-193 mandates that, absent demonstrated substantial compliance with the criteria determined applicable to CON application of the type in question, the Health Officer must deny the CON.

Baptist, 663 So. 2d at 574 (emphasis added).

As will be discussed herein and as demonstrated by the record in this case, DVA failed to demonstrate that it complied with the Plan's and Manual's need criteria, and the Department's approval of the Application without substantial evidence and by applying a lesser standard of need was arbitrary and capricious and justifies the Court's review and reversal of the CON.

#### I. The Department Erred in Finding a Need for the Project.

#### A. The Department May Not Apply a "Lesser Standard of Need."

In the leading decision on applicable standards of need, this Court held that the Department, by "electing to apply a severely lessened standard of need to the ... project based upon a conclusion that relocation was taking place," committed a "most serious error ... requiring reversal" of the order granting the CON. *St. Dominic-Jackson Mem'l Hosp. v. Miss. State Dep't of Health* ("*St. Dominic*"), 728 So. 2d 81, 85 (Miss. 1998). Nearly eight years later, this Court relied on *St. Dominic* to hold that the showing of need and need criteria utilized by the Department "must be commensurate to what the project actually is and the impact which it actually has on the ... health care market." *St. Dominic-Madison Co. Med. Ctr.* v. *Madison Co. Med. Ctr.* ("*St. Dominic-Madison*"), 928 So.2d 822, 827 (Miss. 2006) (quoting *St. Dominic*, 728 So. 2d at 89). As will be discussed herein, DVA failed to demonstrate its compliance with the Plan's criteria for the

establishment of a facility in a different service area, and the Department simply allowed minimal compliance with a lesser standard based upon its classification of DVA's Application as a re-establishment/relocation project.

#### B. The State Health Plan Sets the Applicable Need Criterion.

Under the State Health Plan, DVA's transfer of its dialysis facility into a different ESRD service area from where it previously provided ESRD services constituted the establishment of a new dialysis facility. The Plan, under its "Certificate of Need Criteria and Standards for End Stage Renal Disease (ESRD) Facilities," provides:

When a provider proposes to offer ESRD services in an ESRD facility service area where he does not currently provide services or proposes to transfer an existing ESRD unit(s) from a current location into a different ESRD facility service area, it will constitute the establishment of a new ESRD health care facility....

R.E. 29 (emphasis added). Unlike service areas for most other healthcare facilities or services controlled by the CON law, where the Plan generally sets out predetermined geographic boundaries, the "ESRD Facility Service Area" is facility-specific, radiating from the site of a given ESRD facility. The Plan defines an ESRD Facility Service Area as:

the area within thirty (30) highway miles of an existing or proposed ESRD facility. ESRD Facility Service Areas, including the Service Areas of existing facilities which overlap with the proposed Service Area, shall be used for planning purposes.

R.E. 29. Since an ESRD Facility Service Area ("Service Area") is facility-specific, it necessarily changes with the movement of an ESRD facility; therefore, while a portion

of its Service Area remained the same, DVA's Service Area shifted 4.3 miles with the construction of the new facility, and a new and different 30-mile-radius Service Area was established for DVA's new facility. Eicher for the Department admitted that DVA, by moving to its new location, created a different Service Area.

- Q: ... I think you said that every every [ESRD] facility on the Coast has a different service area because it's located - they're located in different places?
- A: Correct.
- Q: ... And would you agree with me that when you move a facility ... or it locates five miles down the road, it now has a different service area?
- A: Its highway miles would change to another facility's.
- Q: It would have a different service area?
- A: To the extent of that distance, yes. ... Under this criteria, it would have a different service area.

T. 146-48.

Since the Plan sets forth two instances that apply to DVA's project and that "constitute" the establishment of an ESRD facility under the Plan's criteria – (1) a provider proposing to offer ESRD services in a different Service Area from where it currently provides services, and (2) a provider proposing to transfer existing ESRD unit(s) from a current location into a different Service Area – the Plan's Need Criterion for the Establishment of an ESRD Facility applies. In *St. Dominic-Madison*, this Court quoted with approval the chancery court's summary of the law:

[p]ursuant to statute, the controlling question in every CON review is whether the project substantially complies with the Plan's projection of need, not any other lesser standard of need. If [the Department] strays from applying the Plan's projection of need, it commits legal error, and acts arbitrarily and capriciously. ... St. Dominic-Madison, 928 So. 2d at 826 (emphasis added). The Plan's applicable ESRD

Need Criterion provides:

1. Need Criterion: An applicant proposing the establishment of a limited care renal dialysis facility or the relocation of a portion of an existing ESRD facility's dialysis stations to another location shall demonstrate, subject to verification by the Mississippi Department of Health, that each individual existing ESRD facility in the proposed ESRD Facility Service Area has (a) maintained a minimum annual utilization rate of eighty (80) percent, or (b) that the location of the proposed ESRD facility is in a county which does not currently have an existing ESRD facility but whose ESRD relative risk score using current ESRD Network 8 data is 1.5 or higher.

R.E. 29 (boldfacing altered). The terms "establishment" and "relocation of a portion"

might seem to leave a gap for DVA to relocate the entirety of its facility without being

required to prove (a) or (b).<sup>8</sup> However, as the chancery court correctly observed, the Plan

defines "establishment" to include a 100% "relocation":

When a provider proposes to offer ESRD services in an ESRD facility service area where he does not currently provide services or proposes to transfer an existing ESRD unit(s) from a current location into a different ESRD facility service area, it will constitute the establishment of a new ESRD health care facility ....

R.E. 2 at 5-6 (quoting Plan) (emphasis added). While this Court will defer to an agency's interpretation of its governing statutes and rules, it will not do so where that interpretation is contrary to the plain language thereof. *BellSouth Telecomm., Inc. v. Miss. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 18 So. 3d 199, 202 (Miss. 2009). The language of the Need Criterion is clear and unambiguous, and the Department's misinterpretations of it do not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> There is no contested issue as to the applicability of criterion (b) as there are other ESRD facilities in the county.

merit deference, as that would merely frustrate the intent behind the State Health Plan and the CON Law.

#### C. DVA Did Not Meet the Applicable Need Criterion.

Once again, the Department's classification of a project as one type versus another in an attempt to apply a lesser standard of need and approve a project is at issue, despite this Court's rulings to the contrary. DVA and the Department labeled DVA's ESRD project a *relocation* instead of the *establishment* of an ESRD facility in order to apply a lesser standard of need. DVA, prior to Hurricane Katrina in August 2005, operated its old dialysis facility at 12 Marks Road in Ocean Springs, Mississippi, and in November 2006,<sup>9</sup> it opened its new dialysis facility, 4.3 miles away (and approximately four miles from the Appellants' D'Iberville facility), at 13150 Ponce de Leon, Ocean Springs. R.E. 56. Instead of classifying the DVA project as a CON application for the establishment of an ESRD facility under the State Health Plan's provisions, the Department incorrectly classified the DVA project as the relocation and re-establishment of an ESRD facility. This classification led the Department to allow and require compliance with a lesser standard of need than the project actually required under the Plan.

#### 1. DVA Did Not Meet the 80% Threshold.

Similar to applicants in past cases where the Department approved a CON application based on a lesser standard of need, DVA made no attempt to comply (and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> As discussed in more detail below, DVA's new ESRD facility continues to operate at the new site even during the pendency of this appeal, in violation of the statutory stay.

cannot comply) with the applicable 80% threshold. *See St. Dominic-Madison*, 928 So.2d at 825; *Singing River Hosp. Sys. v. Biloxi Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 928 So.2d 810, 815 (Miss. 2006) (both stating that if appropriate standard of need was applied respective applicants could not comply with need criteria applicable to their projects). DVA cannot demonstrate compliance with the 80% threshold, as Contestants' facilities, located in the Service Area, do not have an 80% utilization rate. Testimony and evidence at the Hearing demonstrated D'Iberville's utilization rate was 40%, and Biloxi's utilization rate was 53%. T. 672, 678; R.E. 29, 62, 63.

DVA complains in its brief that "the net effect will be that an ESRD facility will never be able to move as long as another facility within 30 miles keeps its utilization levels below 80%." DVA Brief at 25. Well, yes, that is what the State Health Plan says. DVA and the Department may not like it, but the Plan controls nonetheless.

#### 2. DVA Transferred Its Unit into a Different Service Area.

DVA moved its ESRD facility to its new site, and this relocation established a new 30-mile radius Service Area for DVA, triggering the application of the Plan's Need Criterion to the project. As Eicher testified, the movement of an ESRD facility 4.3 miles shifts the Service Area of the facility. T. 146-48. So while by definition DVA's new location has a new applicable 30-mile radius Service Area, and though the Plan states that a provider who either proposes to offer ESRD services in a different Service Area or proposes to transfer existing ESRD unit(s) into a different Service Area constitutes "the

establishment of a new ESRD healthcare facility," the Department refused to consider DVA's project as the establishment of an ESRD facility.

The Department reasoned that, since the old DVA facility existed in Contestants' respective Service Areas, there was no need to review compliance with the Need Criterion. That was erroneous, because the Need Criterion does not discuss other facilities' Service Areas, but discusses the Service Area of the proposed facility. R.E. 16 at 16. Instead of considering the Plan's criteria, the Department, in adopting the hearing officer's recommendation, simply held that no ESRD criteria applied (as if the Plan had not anticipated such a situation) and that the project simply needed a CON because it was a relocation of a healthcare facility. R.E. 16 at 14-15. However, the Department required no compliance with any relocation criteria, as there are none related to ESRD facilities. See St. Dominic-Madison, 928 So. 2d at 826 (stating chancery court held "there is no specific 'relocation criteria' located in any part of the Plan or applicable statutes'"). This application of a lesser standard of need rendered the Need Criterion provisions of the Plan inapplicable, and found, presumably, that only the CON Manual's general review criteria applied. R.E. 16 at 14.

Though the hearing officer tried to explain why the Need Criterion did not apply to DVA's application, she *never* discussed the definition of an ESRD Facility Service Area, and she *never* discussed the fact that DVA's relocation created a new Service Area for the new DVA facility. Instead, to justify the decision that *no* Plan criteria applied, she (and the Department in adopting her opinion) discussed the policy section of the Plan concerning ESRD facilities and cites the definition of Need Threshold which states,

for planning and CON purposes a need for an additional ESRD facility may exist when each individual operational ESRD station within a given ESRD Facility Service Area has maintained an annual utilization rate of 80 percent, i.e. an average of 749 dialyses per station per year.

R.E. 16 at 15-16. From here the Opinion made the leap that the 80% requirement of the Need Criterion is intended only to prevent "'additional' ESRD facilities within 30 miles of existing facilities that already might be underutilized. This policy must guide and determine the Department's decision in this case." R.E. 16 at 16 (quotations in original). However, the Need Threshold definition simply reinforces the Need Criterion, which states that an ESRD facility cannot be placed in a Service Area if *all* facilities within the proposed Service Area have not maintained an 80% utilization rate. The Department's interpretation disregards the actual, plain language of the Plan's Need Criterion which clearly set forth the two instances which are to be considered the establishment of an ESRD facility and which will thus trigger the application of the Need Criterion.

Though this Court has held repeatedly that "'no lesser showing of need will be required by this Court based on the notion that a "relocation" has taken place," the Department acted as though those holdings were confined to the specific facts of those cases. The Department actually found it distinguishable that DVA was not a provider using unused capacity to build a new facility and enter a new service area, such as the hospital in the *St. Dominic* case. However, this reasoning fails to address the primary

holding from the *St. Dominic* case – the Department cannot apply a lesser standard of need to a project based on its or an applicant's mischaracterization of a proposed project. This Court was quite clear:

the most serious error committed by the Health Officer, and the error requiring reversal, was **not** in defining "relocation," **but rather** in electing to apply a severely lessened standard of need to the North Campus project based upon a conclusion that a relocation was taking place.

*St. Dominic*, 728 So.2d at 85 (emphasis added). Not the definition of "relocation," but the abuse of that definition to rationalize "a severely lessened standard of need," was "the most serious error." In the present case, of course, the Department's contrived "definition" not only disregarded the Plan, but led it to conclude that *no* Need Criterion applied. *St. Dominic* could not be more on point.

Indeed, the reasoning adopted by the Department in this matter and the reversed decision from the Department in the *St. Dominic* case are remarkably similar. This Court noted the Department's flawed reasoning in *St. Dominic*:

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